
LEAVENWORTH PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
COMMISSION CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

100 N. 5th Street 
Leavenworth, KS  66048 

 
REGULAR SESSION 

Wednesday, April 6, 2022 
6:00 p.m. 

 

AGENDA 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 

1. Roll Call/Establish Quorum 

2. Approval of Minutes:  August 4, 2021 
 

OLD BUSINESS: 

      None 
 

NEW BUSINESS: 

1. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
Elect Chairperson and Vice Chairperson 

2. REVIEW BYLAWS 
Review proposed revisions to Bylaws. 

3. 2022-01 LPC – 410 S. 2ND STREET 
A State Law review under the US Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation 
for the proposed exterior renovations of the property located at 410 S. 2nd Street, a 
property located in the Leavenworth Industrial Historic District. 

 

OTHER BUSINESS/CORRESPONDENCE: 

1. FYI – MINOR CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS (20) 

 900 S. Esplanade – install AC & furnace 

 101 N. 5th Street – complete renovation of 2nd floor apartment 

 1028 2nd Avenue – paint exterior of house grey & white 

 928 S. Esplanade – upgrade existing handrails and install additional handrails 

 218 Pine – roof replacement 

 626 Cherokee – install wall sign for Cell Phone Repair 



 1015 S. 3rd Street – replace furnace and water heater 

 1000 S. Esplanade – roof replacement 

 603 Shawnee – install ADA ramp 

 609 Shawnee – install ADA ramp 

 406 N. Broadway – replace HVAC & furnace 

 620 Cherokee – install ADA ramp 

 601 Middle – roof replacement 

 618 Cherokee – reface wall sign for Haymarket Event Center 

 626 Cherokee – interior modifications (do not affect character-defining elements), 
entry door modifications and ADA ramp   

 507 N. Esplanade – replace existing privacy fence 

 618 Cherokee – install ADA ramp 

 207-B Delaware – install ADA ramp 

 508 S. Broadway – repair portico, roof, framing repairs, and repair metal railing on 
lower roof, etc. 

 513 Delaware – install ADA ramp 
 

AJOURN 
 

 
 



 

Leavenworth Preservation Commission                                     [1]         August 4, 2021 

 

CITY OF LEAVENWORTH PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
COMMISSION CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

100 N 5th Street, Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 
Wednesday, August 4, 2021 6:00 PM 

 
The Leavenworth Preservation Commission met Wednesday, May 5, 2021.  Chairman Rik Jackson called the 
meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  Commissioners present were Ken Bower, Ed Otto and Dick Gibson.  Sherry Hines 
Whitson and Debi Denney were absent.  Also, present in the commission chambers were Planning Director Julie 
Hurley and Administrative Assistant Michelle Baragary.     
 
Chairman Jackson noted a quorum was present and called for a motion to accept the minutes from May 5, 2021 
as presented.  Mr. Gibson moved to accept the minutes as presented, seconded by Mr. Otto and approved by a 
vote of 4-0.   
 
                                                                                        
OLD BUSINESS 
 
None 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. 2021-22 LPC – 410 S. 2ND STREET 
 

A State Law review under the US Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation for the proposed 
exterior and interior renovations of the property located at 410 S. 2nd Street, a property located in the 
Leavenworth Industrial Historic District.  
 

Chairman Jackson called for the staff report. 
 
Planning Director Julie Hurley stated the property consists of a large brick warehouse structure with a fenced 
parking area, as well as a small connected retail space with direct access on 2nd Street.  The structure was built in 
the late 1800’s and has served multiple purposes, most recently housing C&H Supply.  The nature of the 
warehouse portion of the building limits the type of uses which may reasonably accommodated by the building 
without significant structural changes, to primarily industrial-type uses.  The retail portion of the building is not 
suitable for industrial uses. 
 
The applicant intends to convert the warehouse portion of the structure into a mini-storage facility by retrofitting 
the interior of the building to accommodate individual storage units, while retaining the brick exterior.  Windows 
and doors will be replaced and the existing chain link fence will be replaced with black steel fencing and an 
automatic gate.  The adjoining retail space will be converted to a cigar lounge, with no proposed changes to the 
exterior. 
 
A rezoning request was heard by the Planning Commission on Monday, August 2nd, to rezone the property from 
Light Industrial, I-1, to Central Business District, CBD.  Issuance of a Special Use Permit will be required for 
operation of a mini-storage facility in the CBD zoning district.  Mini-storage is a use permitted by right-in the I-1 
zoning district.  However, the adjoining retail portion of the building does not allow for most retail-type uses 
which would be considered appropriate in the downtown area with the current I-1 zoning.  CBD is a less intense 
zoning district than I-1 and will allow for uses that are more appropriate for the location of the property. 



 

Leavenworth Preservation Commission                                     [2]         August 4, 2021 

 

REQUIRED REVIEWS: 

1. A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal change 
to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment. 

The primary structure was constructed as a warehouse.  Minimal exterior changes are required for the 
proposed use of mini-storage.  

 
2. The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved.  The removal of historic materials 

or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided. 

No removal of historic materials or alteration of defining features is proposed.  
 

3. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use.  Changes that create a 
false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements from 
other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 

No such changes are proposed.  
 

4. Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their own 
right shall be retained and preserved. 

No removal or alteration of historic features is proposed.  
 

5. Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved. 

No removal or alteration of historic features is proposed. .  
 

6. Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced.  Where the severity of deterioration 
requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in design, color, 
texture, and other visual qualities, and where possible, materials.  Replacement of missing features shall 
be substantiated by documentary, physical, or pictorial evidence. 

Only doors and windows are proposed to be replaced.  Proposed replacement doors and windows are 
appropriate for the structure and use. 

 
7. Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials shall not 

be used.  The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest means 
possible.  

No such treatments are proposed. 
 

8. Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved.  If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 

No known significant archeological resources exist for preservation. 
 

9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials that 
characterize the property.  The new work shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible 
with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property 
and its environment. 

No additions or new construction is proposed.  
 



 

Leavenworth Preservation Commission                                     [3]         August 4, 2021 

 

10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner that if 
removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment 
would be unimpaired. 

No additions or new construction is proposed.  
 
ACTION /OPTIONS: 

 Motion, to approve the proposed renovation project at 410 S. 2nd Street. 

 Motion, to deny the proposed renovation project at 410 S. 2nd Street. 

 Motion, to Table item until the next meeting for the purpose of further study.  

 Motion, to forward to the SHPO for review. 
 
Chairman Jackson asked the applicants/owners to explain their project. 
 
Jack Ross stated he and Josh Magaha recently purchased this building.  Their intention is to have a retrofit storage 
inside the warehouse.  The height of the storage units are 10’.  Will clean-up the red brick on the outside of the 
building and add times period specific window styles, much like the Stove Loft apartments.   
 
Chairman Jackson asked for questions from the commissioners. 
 
Ken Bower asked the applicants to explain the two different options for the interior renovations.  
 
Mr. Ross stated the layouts are about the same for the retrofit inside.  Option #1 has the current office remaining 
in place and the cigar lounge would merge into some of the warehouse space.  Option #2 has the storefront 
property specifically for the cigar lounge and will not impede on the warehouse side.  The doorway between the 
warehouse and the current office space would be sealed off creating two separate occupancies.  The cigar lounge 
storefront would be the entrance to the north (the smaller building) and will have two levels.  The owners believe 
option #2 would be the more likely scenario as far as the layout goes.  
 
Mr. Bower asked about the windows. 
 
Mr. Ross stated if you are facing the building, from left to right, they will replace window, window, steel doorway 
(used to be a garage door), window, door into the cigar lounge and the lower and upper windows to the left of 
the cigar entrance will also be replaced.   
 
Mr. Ross further stated the windows on the south side of the building would be eliminated, sided and nicely 
painted for safety and security purposes because that side of the building would be storage units.  
 
Mr. Bower asked for clarification that all windows on the south side would be eliminated. 
 
Mr. Ross responded in the affirmative stating the previous owner at some point added the windows on the south 
side.  These windows are not historic. 
 
Mr. Bower asked what type of door would be installed for the warehouse entrance on 2nd Street. 
 
Mr. Ross responded they would like a glass door but for safety reasons they will probably install a solid steel door 
with a small window. 
 
Mr. Bower asked if the larger window on the second floor of the cigar lounge would be replaced and if it would 
keep the same sized opening.   



 

Leavenworth Preservation Commission                                     [4]         August 4, 2021 

 

 
Mr. Ross stated that window would be replaced and would keep the same size opening.  All the windows would 
be custom designed with grids to keep them time period specific.   
 
Mr. Bower asked if the windows would be similar to the adjoining building. 
 
Mr. Ross stated they are not sure if they will go with the same style or possibly something a little different to give 
some separation between the two buildings.   
 
Mr. Bower stated it would be nice if the closed off arch windows above the old garage door were reinstalled.  
 
Mr. Ross stated they had no intention to replace those windows.  However, now that it has been brought to his 
attention, opening the closed off windows would allow a lot more natural light to come in.  If financially feasible, 
the owners will consider reinstalling those windows.   
 
Mr. Magaha gave a little history of the building stating in World War I it was used to make tank turrets and the 
pot still is still in the building, which is on what would be the cigar lounge side of the building.  Mr. Magaha stated 
if they can get it to work, it is their intention to get a Lexington glass walkway so when you walk into the humidor 
it will be back lit with the actual pot still.   
 
Mr. Magaha further stated the large square window on the second level is the old gang showers.  The original 
showerheads (approximately 10) are still there.  None of this history will be removed from the building.  The only 
items that will go up there are a smoke eater, A/C unit and leather furniture.    
 
Dick Gibson asked about the parking lot. 
 
Mr. Ross stated their intention is to install new black fencing with an automatic gate.  Individuals with storage 
units would have 24-hour access using a keypad.  To keep traffic off the streets, loading and unloading would 
occur where the large garage door is located on the south side of the building.       
 
Mr. Gibson asked if consideration has been given to renting space inside the parking lot for campers, boats, etc.  
 
Mr. Ross responded in the affirmative.   
 
Mr. Jackson asked if there will be motion sensor lights outside. 
 
Mr. Ross stated there will not be flashy bright lights on their signage.  The cigar lounge will be a basic back lit 
steel sign. 
 
Mr. Gibson asked about outside security lighting.  His concerns are lights that may negatively impact neighboring 
properties. 
 
Mr. Ross responded there will be outside security lights.  The lighting design will be directed into the property 
instead of out.   
 
Mr. Gibson asked the owners if they have any pictures of the building from the early 1900’s. 
 
The property owners responded they do not. 
 



 

Leavenworth Preservation Commission                                     [5]         August 4, 2021 

 

Ms. Hurley suggested they contact the Leavenworth County Historical Society.   
 
Mr. Gibson asked is the parking for the cigar lounge would be on-street parking. 
 
Mr. Ross responded in the affirmative.  He does not foresee the cigar lounge holding enough people to max out 
the available on-street parking. 
 
Ms. Hurley stated there are no parking requirements for downtown with all of the public parking lots.  On-street 
parking is specifically addressed with the zoning.   
 
With no other questions for the applicants, Chairman Jackson opened the public hearing.  With no one wishing 
to speak, Chairman Jackson closed the public hearing and called for a motion.  Mr. Bower moved to approve the 
proposed renovation project at 410 S. 2nd Street, seconded by Mr. Otto and approved by a roll call vote 4-0. 
 
 
OTHER BUSINESS/CORRESPONDENCE  

 
1. Other Business/Correspondence 

 
Ms. Hurley noted there are 15 Minor Certificate of Appropriateness for the board’s information. 
 
Ms. Hurley stated an email was sent with the link for the online training that will occur later this month.  
 
With no further discussion, Chairman Jackson called for a motion to adjourn.  Mr. Otto moved to adjourn, 
seconded by Mr. Gibson and approved by a vote of 4-0. 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 6:42 p.m.   

Minutes taken by Administrative Assistant Michelle Baragary. 

 
 
 
 



LEAVENWORTH PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

 

BYLAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS 

 

 The following rules and regulations governing the procedures of the Leavenworth 

Historic Landmarks and Appeals Board (Board) are adopted. 

 

Article I – Members 

 

1. The membership of the Board is determined by Ordinance No. 7386.  A majority 

of the currently duly appointed Board shall constitute a quorum. 

 

2. Members shall be appointed by the Mayor with the consent of the City 

Commission.  Appointments shall be made for three-year terms.  Vacancies shall 

be filled by appointment for the unexpired term.  Members of the Board shall be 

residents of the City of Leavenworth and serve without compensation. 

 

Article II – Officers 

 

1. The Board shall organize annually at the first regular meeting after the annual 

appointment of new members but no later than the February meeting. 

 

2. The Commission shall elect a Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson from among the 

appointed members at the annual organization meeting.  The officers shall serve for 

one year or until replaced. 

 

3. The City Planner shall serve as the Secretary. 

 

4. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings and public hearings of the Board; 

shall decide all points of order and procedure; shall certify actions of the Board 

pursuant to the ordinance; and shall transmit reports and recommendations to the 

governing body with the assistance of the Secretary. 

 

5. The Vice-Chairperson shall assume the duties of the Chairperson in his absence. 

 

6. The Secretary shall be responsible for keeping the Board minutes, sending agendas 

to Board members, carrying out written correspondence, maintaining Board 

records, certifying Board actions to the State Historic Preservation Office, and 

performing such other duties as the Board may reasonably require. 

 

7. Should a Board member miss twohree regular monthly meetings in any 12-month 

month period, the Board shall determine if the City Commission should be 

petitioned to replace that Board member. 

 

Article III – Meetings 

 



1. The Board shall meet monthly, on an as needed basis, on the first Wednesday of 

the month at 6:00 p.m. in the Commission Auditorium, 1st Floor, City Hall, 100 N. 

5th Street, Leavenworth, Kansas.  When the first Wednesday falls on a holiday, a 

new meeting date shall be established. 

 

2. Special meetings may be called by the Chairperson or, in his absence, by the Vice-

Chairperson.  Notice of special meetings shall be given by the Secretary to Board 

members at least three days prior to such meeting and shall state the purpose and 

time of the meeting. 

 

3. All regular and special meetings, hearings and records shall be open to the public. 

 

4. A majority of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.  

If a quorum is not present at a regular or special meeting, those present may either 

adjourn the meeting or hold the meeting to consider such matters as are on the 

agenda.  No action shall be taken at such a meeting and the Board shall continue 

official action on any agenda items until a subsequent meeting when a quorum is 

present. 

 

5. The order of business at all meetings shall be as follows: 

 

a. Call to order 

b. Roll call Determination of quorum  

c. Reading and Aapproval of minutes 

d. Old business 

e. New business and/or public hearings 

f. Reports of committees 

g. Reports of officers and related personnel 

h. Adjournment 

 

6. Motions shall be restated by the Chairperson before a vote is taken.  The name of 

the maker and supporter of a motion shall be recorded. 

 

7. An affirmative vote of a majority of the total membership is needed to authorize 

any official Board action, unless otherwise specified by statute or ordinance. 

 

8. All members including the Chairperson shall have a vote when present unless a 

person shall disqualify him/herself from voting on any decision in which they might 

express a conflict of interest.  In the event of a conflict of interest, the member shall 

so state before discussion of the item and shall remove him/herself from the panel. 

 

9. Procedure may follow commonly accepted parliamentary rules for boards.  

 

10. All persons wishing to address the Board shall first be recognized by the Chair and 

invited to a podium to introduce themselves by name and address to be entered into 

the record of the meeting.  Thereafter, the Board may freely discourse with the 

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red, Strikethrough

Formatted: Font color: Red



citizen.  Upon concluding citizen testimony, the Chair may call for Board 

discussion at which time Board members may freely discourse with each other. 

 

Article IV – Committees 

 

 The Chairperson may appoint any standing committee deemed necessary for the 

review and study of Board business and any special committee seeking research and 

recommendations on special topics.  Any committee may contain up to four Board 

members. 

 

Article V – Board Staff 

 

1. The Board may employ staff and/or professional consultants, as it may require, 

subject to approved budgetary limitations.  The City Commission shall approve all 

new employees and all contracts for professional services in excess of $10,000. 

 

2. The staff shall conduct business and prepare reports and agendas for the Board 

pursuant to the ordinance, state law and appropriate City policies. 

 

3. The staff shall act as liaison between the Board and the City commission, other 

appropriate boards/commissions, the State of Kansas, the National Register of 

Historic Places and the general public. 

 

4. The staff shall prepare an annual budget and annual review of the ordinance and 

historic resources survey and make recommendations for modifications. 

 

5. The staff shall accept other responsibilities as may be directed by the Board, the 

Governing Body or the City Manager. 

 

Article VI – Records and Reports 

 

1. The Board shall keep a record of its transactions, findings and determinations and 

recommendations. 

 

2. All records shall be available for public review. 

 

3. The Board shall annually review the historic resources survey and the ordinance to 

determine needed revisions and shall make a report and recommendation to the 

governing body regarding same. 

 

Article VII – Publicity 

 

1. The Board shall encourage the public to attend its regular meetings and shall take 

positive action to keep its activities before the public by supplying newspapers and 

other media with information and by having members and staff appear before civic 

groups to discuss the purpose and the work of the Board. 



 

2. The ordinance provides authority for the Board to initiate and recommend 

participation in grant programs to improve historic resources, and to be the City’s 

point of contact for historical, archeological, and related associations in keeping 

with the objective to promote Leavenworth’s built-history. 

 

Article VIII – Amendments 

 

These rules of procedure may be amended by an affirmative vote by a majority of the Board 

provided such proposed amendment has been submitted in writing to each member at least 

three days prior to the meeting at which such action is to be taken. 

 

Article IX – Rules of Order 

 

1. Open Public Meetings.  All meetings and study sessions shall be open to the public.  

A record must be kept of all business transacted. 

 

2. Public Hearings.  The Chairperson may prescribe procedures for the conduct of 

public hearings including setting a time limit for citizen input in order to provide a 

fair and impartial presentation of all sides of a request. 

 

 

Passed and approved this _____ day of __________________, 2022019. 

 

 

 

 

      _________________________________ 

      Chairperson 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

Secretary 

 

 

 

 












































































































































